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Rae Ann Kremer, Joe Hough, Carol Low

Rae Ann Kremer:
Today is June 5, 1979.  This is Rae Ann Kremer and Carol Low with Metropolitan Interfaith Association's Neighborhood and Public Policy Project for the Vollintine-Evergreen neighborhood.  We are on a grant from the Tennessee Committee for the Humanities, an affiliate of the National Endowment for the Humanities.  We are going to be interviewing Mr. Joe Hough, who has been active in the VECA neighborhood association and been a resident of the neighborhood since when, Mr. Hough?

Joe Hough:
Well, since literally all my life.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh, really?

Joe Hough:
Yeah.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Where have you lived there?

Joe Hough:
Well, my mother still lives on Garland, where I grew up.  I've lived in the Cabana Apartments for five or six years before I bought my house that I was living in for eight years on University.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh.  Well, you really have always been there.  When did you move into the Cabana apartment?

Joe Hough:
Oh, when I got married.  Oh, gosh.  I don't know when I got married.

[0:01:08]


About 12 years ago, whenever that was.  So, let's see.  This is '79.  About 1967 I moved into the Cabanas, and lived there, of course.  We became involved in VECA while we were still living in the Cabanas.

Rae Ann Kremer:
How did you become involved in VECA?

Joe Hough:
Through my church.  As you all know – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Your church – 

Joe Hough:
– VECA – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– is which?

Joe Hough:
– St. Therese Little Flower.  Some members of our parish were involved in a task team formed through a MIFA seminar, I think it was, wasn't it, that came back and wanted to do something, and of course because I had lived in the neighborhood and saw what was happening there, the deterioration _________ block-busting and people losing faith in the neighborhood.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Now, when was this and what was happening?

[0:02:00]

Joe Hough:
I guess this was the summer of 1970.  Is that the date we're saying that – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Mm hmm.

Joe Hough:
– VECA was actually formed.

Rae Ann Kremer:
That September.

Joe Hough:
– and we were going through a period, blacks beginning to move into the neighborhood, traditional ________ block-busting, whites losing faith in the neighborhood – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, what – 

Joe Hough:
– _________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
– exactly happened with block-busting?  We keep hearing it mentioned.

Joe Hough:
Well, block-busting is _______ nothing different in the VECA neighborhood, and it's happened in nearly hundreds of neighborhoods in Memphis that over a period of years in the inner city that turned from white to black.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, for instance, we did a history of the Cherokee neighborhood, and that, there were specific – 

Joe Hough:
Yeah, they had cases.

Rae Ann Kremer:
– real estate firms that … 

Joe Hough:
That's right.  We never had anybody prosecute.  We – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
There was no federal – 

Joe Hough:
– _________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
– investigation, or anything?

Joe Hough:
They came out a couple times and checked, but by that period of time, see that's a couple of years after Cherokee, and in Cherokee by then, the rules were laid of what was really block-busting as far as the civil rights legislation and what was intimidation.

[0:03:09]


But the term block-busting has traditionally been used in the business, I mean before we had open housing, but once a black moved into a block, see, ethically, real estate brokers and that could not sell to a black in a block if it was an all-white neighborhood – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
That was – 

Joe Hough:
– because they were upsetting the values and creating – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– I see.

Joe Hough:
– an ________ market.

Rae Ann Kremer:
So, that was wrong – 

Joe Hough:
So, agents stayed back until somehow one black got into it, and then it was ripple open on that particular block.  That's where the word block-busting ____________ that block had then been busted _______ literally, and the real estate ________ I've been in since 1965, we kept maps of the city of Memphis, showing where __________ now _______ annually did this for the mortgage companies ________, where are they, you know, what areas are vulnerable in the next two years, and 15 years ago people were making lending decisions on __________, as well as selling and buying decisions, what's likely to turn in the next couple years.

[0:04:12]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Now, what did it do to the real estate?  I don't understand.

Joe Hough:
Well, traditionally, real estate and the block-busting, it creates panic situations.  You get an artificial market.  All of a sudden, you've got people panickly putting their properties for sale, and the demand for buyers has not really been stimulated.  The sale has been created by fear ________ a racial situation.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, but for a while there – 

Joe Hough:
And along with that, you get involved in is then you get the intimidations, the insinuations and such, the complete canvassing of your neighborhood just almost daily, and sometimes multiple ________ by agents wanting to list your property, "You've got to get out while you can," ________ that.

[0:05:00]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Now, what about the middle-class black who, for a while there in the early '50s, even were looking for better housing and were having trouble getting into neighborhoods?

Joe Hough:
Well, in the early '60s, you didn't have open housing yet, so ________ ________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
So, there was obviously a market, though – 

Joe Hough:
Sure.

Rae Ann Kremer:
– for middle-class blacks looking for good housing.

Joe Hough:
Mm hmm.

Rae Ann Kremer:
So, whenever a neighborhood started, then they would gravitate to that neighborhood – 

Joe Hough:
As a rule, once they – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– _______ they were able – 

Joe Hough:
– found that – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– to buy.

Joe Hough:
– particular neighborhood was open and available to them, and that's why usually over a period of time, when you had a block-busting, once one got in, so to speak, and then the agents all descend upon that neighborhood, got everybody else to list – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
And there really was – 

Joe Hough:
– and the buyers were – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– a market.

Joe Hough:
– yeah, there were people ________.  Sure.  They were beginning, as you say, to come up in incomes and the socioeconomic levels, and they were looking for better housing, trying to get out of the ghetto, and these were where they were steered because it was the only place they could find, other than the two or three places in town that they could buy new housing.

[0:06:00]


So, during this period of time, you had primarily three builders in Memphis that built black housing.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Who was that?

Joe Hough:
Well, you had ________ Realty, Balock and Brown, and McNeil ________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
And where was that housing?

Joe Hough:
Oh, most of it would have been, at that period of time, scattered in, of course, the _______ area downtown.  Those three builders are the builders that built down there.  They built in some pockets in south Memphis that had been passed over, ________ areas, that type of thing ________ _______ in south Memphis.  We have a pocket up in the Vollintine-Evergreen neighborhood on Edward Street.

Rae Ann Kremer:
What street?

Carol Low:
Which street?

Joe Hough:
Edward – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Edward?

Joe Hough:
– between McLean and University.  It's a street _______ middle-income housing built in the late '60s that's still all black.

Rae Ann Kremer:
And it was originally sold – 

Joe Hough:
It was built by the same type of builders – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
________.

Joe Hough:
– these same builders.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Those same builders built it?

Joe Hough:
Those three builders, three companies, were about the only people in town that built new housing for blacks.

[0:07:02]

Rae Ann Kremer:
And they just bought that land and developed it?

Joe Hough:
Yes, and it was __________, and they bought it and developed it, and they just would go around and find pieces of land like that in north Memphis and south Memphis, but the community – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
How did the Vollintine-Evergreen neighborhood react to that?

Joe Hough:
– to that particular development?

Rae Ann Kremer:
Mm hmm.

Joe Hough:
I don't think there was any adverse reaction from anybody, because at that time it was still in what was a black area, and it still is a black area.  I mean it's really ________ ________ at this point.  It was land that probably was opened up in there when they ________ _______, and before that _________ ______ tenements and shanties up in there, ______ people were glad to see better housing.  But, you know, ________ looking back historically, it was always fine as long as the line was drawn where white and black lived.  You can go all around ________ find that up there if you looked around there were certain streets the blacks lived on and certain streets the whites lived on, but there was a line there, an imaginary line, which you dare not cross, and when the blacks crossed that line, that's when you got into a block-busting situation.

[0:08:06]


They had come, "Too far," __________ stereotypes that got involved, and there's when the panics came in.  They crossed that line.  Edward Street was ________ at that point __________ ________ where they belonged.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, now going back to you saying the maps that the real estate people had, you know, of what was gonna turn, and loans were made on that sort of thing, is that practice still – 

Joe Hough:
No, this is all illegal _______.  This is the practice today known and referred to as red lining, which we don't find any real evidence of it.

Rae Ann Kremer:
What about racial steering?  Is that still pretty prevalent?

Joe Hough:
I could not tell you that.  I feel that it is, but I couldn't tell you.  We know even in our neighborhood there is a difference between north and south of Jackson still.  There's people that will tell you all the time, "Well, it's safe south of Jackson," safe meaning you're not concerned about it becoming a predominantly black street _________ _________.

[0:09:10]

Carol Low:
Do you think real estate agents tend to show – 

Joe Hough:
Yes.  I'll say I think that is generally – we see it time and time again in talking to people as prospects, that they themselves or they've been told it's safe, that type of thing, so there's a certain amount of it, but not to the extent of anything documented illegal.  It's something that we don't even try to pursue at this point.  We're trying to be aggressive on the other part now [break in audio] _________ that kind of permeates this north and south of Jackson _______ current listing here in the multiple listing books of the Real Estate Board on the housing, there's a Zone 4, which Jackson is the boundary, so everything north of Jackson to the _________ are lumped together to be one homogeneous district, which, in fact, they aren't, because the housing _________ north of Cypress Creek, which is our northern boundary, drastically change from what is south of the creek.

[0:10:13]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Drastically change in what way?

Joe Hough:
In the character, the quality, values, the size, everything about the housing.  Most of the older houses to the north is much smaller, lower quality, more disrepair because it's a lower socioeconomic _______.  There's a lot more multiple and rental housing to the north.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Row housing, you say?

Joe Hough:
Multiple and rental – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh, rental.

Joe Hough:
– _________, like duplexes, quad-plexes, apartments, but ________ just an entirely different character of housing, and we feel the housing north of Jackson in the Vollintine-Evergreen neighborhood is of identical quality to that south of Jackson ________, and built in the same era and developed, the same type of housing, and so then you get into Zone 5, which then lumps everything from Jackson to Poplar.  Sure, these are nice groupings for somebody that just wants to get out a city map and ________ ________ and try to minimize the housing in there, but it has had an adverse effect.

[0:11:16]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Do you think it was done on purpose?

Joe Hough:
No.  They tend to take the line of least resistance.  I think if you go back and look at the map _________ and all of the zones, they're following maybe streets and such, and to put it down Jackson Avenue, they use as a marker through there, just as they use Poplar Avenue, Union Avenue, and such.  They just tend to draw down ______ without taking into consideration that it might change the type of buyer that would be looking in the north half of Zone 4 would not be the same kind of buyer looking in the south half of Zone 4, who should be the same kind of buyer who would be looking in Zone 5, which is off of Jackson Avenue.

Carol Low:
Do you think there's a lot of difference between in north Vollintine and the housing ___________.

[0:12:00]

Joe Hough:
Well, the housing ________ north of Vollintine is a little newer and maybe a little smaller in some instances, and _______ because then you turn around and say everything in Vollintine Hills is largest.  They have some of the largest houses in the neighborhood ________ _______.

Rae Ann Kremer:
What is Vollintine Hills?

Joe Hough:
That's the subdivision immediately adjacent to Baron Hirsch Synagogue.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh, I didn't realize that's what it was called, and that was developed at the – 

Joe Hough:
It was in the late '50s.

Rae Ann Kremer:
– golf course.

Joe Hough:
Yeah, _______, long after.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Who developed that?

Joe Hough:
To my knowledge, Herman Gruber.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Herman Gruber?

Joe Hough:
_______ developed most of the land that was developed later, _________ and some of those developed earlier, but to my knowledge, _______ developed most everything in that general area that was developed in the '50s.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Now, wait a minute.  The land was sold by the Terry family, Terry _______ Group, and they sold it to John Goodwin, didn't they?

Joe Hough:
Yes, who would have probably been ________ back then _______ land development _________.

[0:13:04]

Rae Ann Kremer:
And did he sell to Herman Gruber?

Joe Hough:
Well, see, he might have developed these subdivisions, per se.  I just know that Mr. Gruber developed several pockets in that area __________ _________.  I just know he did so some of the stuff up on Edward and Brown Street, and up _________ _______ some of those small subdivisions, and knowing him in the past, he did live on University and had made comments years ago to me about how he had developed this little pocket and that little pocket _________ things that were developed after World War II.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Now, you're talking about who?

Joe Hough:
Gruber.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Gruber.  Okay.

Joe Hough:
Yeah, _______ – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Does he still live there?

Joe Hough:
– no.  Mr. Gruber is dead and moved out of the neighborhood many years ago, but I happened to be in business associations and he _______ where I lived, and that type of thing, we'd be talking ________.  But this north and south thing ______ Jackson, I think that's where the land came about.  It also happens to be we're in the process of getting that changed now.

[0:14:06]


We've got favorable response by the board of directors, the board of realtors, and there's a question about where the land will now be drawn.  Apparently, again because of their concept of wanting the easily-defined boundaries and ________ like I said, Jackson ________ clearly define somebody's map – Watkins to Hollywood.  It appears that this Zone 4 will be contracted, 5 will be expanded, or whatever.  Anyway, there's gonna be some work _______ change of some midtown zones, because some other neighborhoods on the south side of town, now they're all _________ _______, because, again, they get in the situation that there's a line on the mark, and yet there's some good housing south of the mark that's compatible _________ there at Watkins and _________.

[0:15:04]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Now, is this something your real estate committee or the VECA association did?  Is that one of the – 

Joe Hough:
That's something – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– recommendations?

Joe Hough:
– we're working on right now.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah.

Joe Hough:
That's something that's current.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, going back to the beginning of your real estate committee, what were the things that you have tried to do, and what have you accomplished?

Joe Hough:
Well, VECA came about through MIFA because of the concern of people abandoning the inner cities.  There's a direct feeling in several congregations ________ church membership living nearby, that the churches themselves survival was being threatened, as we have seen happen in other neighborhoods over a period of time, where there's been a racial change _______ the neighborhood ________ congregation to move out and the church was _______ _________.  Primarily through the efforts of Lloyd Barker at McLean Baptist and the Reverend Tom Clark at ________, ________ was how could we stabilize _______ how can we stop the flight, the panic ________, so ________ became a real estate question.

[0:16:13]


The thing ________ in everybody's mind was the loss of faith in the neighborhood was being illustrated with the For Sale signs that were in the yards.  On my particular block at University, when I purchased my house eight-plus years ago, there were, I think, nine houses for sale on a street that has 30 houses or something.

Rae Ann Kremer:
What is your address on University?

Joe Hough:
871, and my particular house, I moved in in March and it had been empty since September.  I know a house across the street sold simultaneous to me a Southwestern professor moving back in from Raleigh _______, and his house also had been vacant since September.

[0:17:02]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Now, did these houses sell for depressed value?

Joe Hough:
I think mine sold for exactly its market value.  _______ was supposed to be a professional appraisal at the time, I told my wife ________ looked at it that I thought it was worth about $17,950.00.  We ended up, I think, paying $18,000.00 for the house.

Rae Ann Kremer:
And what would it go for now?

Joe Hough:
The low 40's.  Anyway, I mean it would more than double – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Wow, in eight years.

Joe Hough:
– but all housing – you know, _________, and if we wanted to get onto that subject ________ probably get on that in a minute _______ about values.  I don't think VECA houses ________ a whole lot faster than elsewhere, but it has at least kept pace, which means it's stayed competitive in the market.  ________ buyers ________.  But the For Sale sign situation, in the summer of '70, the ________ had came in the neighborhood.  Not only had there been in certain blocks through block-busting, and at that time open housing not being the law, certain blocks that blacks were buying in, which happened to be primarily north of Vollintine and north of Jackson.

[0:18:13]


I can remember _______ very first meeting with VECA, some person, she got up and said, "There's no trouble.  What are we meeting for?"  You know, "I live down here on Snowden and the blacks are way up there on North Avalon," or something, but that's the feeling, because that very first meeting we had had a real mixture of people that _________ to mix everybody all up, or we're there meeting to polarize those that were there.  There were people there I'm sure that would have preferred that there'd been a white citizens council meeting to see where we were gonna go ________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
By the way, I do believe the open housing law was in effect in 1970.

Joe Hough:
It might have been about '70.  Okay.  __________ – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah, I believe it was 1968.

Joe Hough:
Yeah, that rings a bell ________ because '70 – okay, yeah.  ________ we were having at that time, there was ________.  The problem was related to ________ housing was available then, and a number of the blacks that were buying ________ coming out of the urban _______ areas _______ ________ able to have big cash payments _________.

[0:19:18]


But the size of the house they could buy at that time probably was about a $17,000.00 or a $15,000.00 maximum ________ which didn't limit them _______ _______ ________ predominance of blacks at that point in the neighborhood were in the northwest quadrant of the neighborhood, there had been some on other streets, like Hallwood _________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Those were nicer homes.

Joe Hough:
Yeah, I would say they were in – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Middle class.

Joe Hough:
– the upper middle income black we were talking about a moment ago that were looking for housing, which something has been a mystery to me, as I mentioned, nine houses on my block eight years ago for sale, and I'm gonna try counting ___________.

[0:20:07]


Eighteen houses have sold in those eight years, and we still don't have a black _______ _______ kept on waiting until we had one, and every time a house goes up, the feelings of some of the older people are still the same as they were eight years ago.  They get all scared ________, and as soon as they see a white man drive in the driveway _______, "________."  I know there was a house up for sale ________ several years ago, and we all kind of said, "Well, we wish kind of a black would go ahead and buy this one, because at some point there's obviously gonna be one."

[0:21:05]


Between on our side and the people on the other side, there wouldn't be any problem with accepting them, and it might make some of the little old ladies down the block that are always worried ________ that they would find they could live with them, because they know that there's some behind them over at Sheraton, there's some behind them on Dogwood, but they feel like – and then there used to be a little old lady that has since moved __________ it would be out there ___________, "Oh, you just don't know how much joy it is to see these little children playing _________," because __________ revitalization _________.  When we moved in eight years ago, there was only one family with ________ children.  Today, there's probably eight families with ________ children.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Do the children go to the neighborhood schools?

Joe Hough:
Well, I'm saying ________ children ________.

[0:22:01]

Rae Ann Kremer:
________.

Joe Hough:
There are very few children on the street that are in school age.  There happens to be __________ school age _________ St. Therese Little Flower, our children ________ St. Therese Little Flower, the ________ children _________, the ________ children were in public school.  I think the last one ________ _______, and on the other side of the street, I don't think there are any school age children there.  _________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Just speak up, please – 

Joe Hough:
I'm just trying to think – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– _______.

Joe Hough:
– of names myself.  There are no other school age children.  For the four families that have school age children right now, half are in the neighborhood parochial school and the other half are in neighborhood – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Public schools.

Joe Hough:
– public schools.

Carol Low:
What do you think about the public schools in the neighborhood?

Joe Hough:
Well, when VECA was formed, really there were two areas that we thought we could do something about.

[0:23:04]


One real estate, which I was directly involved in, and on the idea at first of trying to stabilize and keep people from panicking, and realize that this was not the worst thing that could happen to them, that a black man had bought down the street and – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
What specifically – 

Joe Hough:
– ________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
– did you do?

Joe Hough:
The newspaper is something that you'll talk to somebody else about, I'm sure, but all of us agreed we had to have some communication, some feeling with people, and I've been to Washington, Atlanta at conferences and such; anytime I get to talk about VECA, I always say the most important thing was they have their own news.  This became a voice of someone ________ _____ that there was concern _______ care about keeping the neighborhood a viable place to live, and not letting it become an undesirable residential area.  But the paper was started, and in the paper I wrote several articles _________ trying to educate people to what was going on from the point of view that there was a natural phenomena occurring that required a certain number of houses to go on the market.

[0:24:13]


The case of people who had to move to Chicago because of an employment opportunity.  The case of the older people who could no longer keep up a home, who had maybe been in _________ and found that ________.  The case of the estate, of liquidation, the older people who had lived there 50 years and died, and their children were already living elsewhere, they don't have a need for the property.  They had to put it on the market.  And then, I think we mentioned before, but I think that there definitely was a migration of Jewish people out of the midtown area, which I think was a natural phenomena unrelated to the racial situation.  It just had occurred that the Jewish people settled in this neighborhood when they came out, an older inner city area __________ where they came out to Vollintine-Evergreen in the '30s and the '40s, and then the next generation of Jewish people really were buying at Walnut Grove and _________.

[0:25:08]


But this was a natural phenomenon.  We have these people moving in with all these four elements, creative at selling their houses, and that there were natural buyers, be they white, black that would be looking at the houses.  Other people said, "So, we'd be creating an artificial situation."  In an artificial situation, they were themselves lowering their values, not the market _______.  We were trying to educate them, "Don't panic, don't sell unless you have to."

Rae Ann Kremer:
Do you think that that stopped a lot – 

Joe Hough:
I don't think the education aspect did.  It might have just – I think just the fact that the paper was out and that there was an organization helped, and then the areas that we started then watching for unethical and illegal practices, we started – of course, _____ got literally calls from everything, from the point of view of, "Hey, somebody put something in my mailbox that says they've got a cash buy for my house," ___________, to the point of view of, "Somebody's calling me day and night saying I better sell while I can, they've got a buyer for my house," that type of thing.

[0:26:19]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Was it specific somebody's, or just … 

Joe Hough:
Oh yes, there was numerous.  I think literally every agent in town at one time or another had some solicitation because this was open prey.  There was a market, and the feeling in general is, "If somebody's gonna list them, why shouldn't I get the listing?"

Rae Ann Kremer:
So, they went out and actually tried to get the listings – 

Joe Hough:
Yeah, _______ – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– ________.

Joe Hough:
– across-the-board situation.  It wasn't – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Is that – 

Joe Hough:
– _______ – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– illegal or unethical?

Joe Hough:
– no, this is quite common.  Unfortunately, the practice is always performed in areas that are vulnerable.  You won't see an agent wasting their time going out in a nice, stable Germantown neighborhood and beating on doors and putting out _____ ____ and such, because they know that they're not gonna maybe intimidate or entice people that are thinking, "Yeah, maybe there are things going on around me that I'm not fully aware of that someday will come up."

[0:27:13]


But if you've got somebody knocking on your door regularly insinuating and implying that, and in some cases, people would come _________.  They said, "Do you know a black bought the house down the street.  We'd like to sell yours."  Well, in fact, they did ________ these people ____________ we'd have some kind of case.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Right.

Joe Hough:
But in most cases, they would not go to that point.  When you really got them down to it, _______ to it, or did they imply it?  Did they just ask you did you know who bought across the street or down the street."  I said, "There's insinuations and there's implications," and then some people who just wanted us to _________.  We said, "Well, we can't do __________.  It's hearsay for me to ________ and say that you said __________ told you that, and – 

[0:28:02]

Rae Ann Kremer:
And they weren't willing to – 

Joe Hough:
– yeah, that's – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– _________.

Joe Hough:
– ________, "Now, I don't want to get into that, you know, but I want you all people to do whatever you can about it."

Rae Ann Kremer:
Did you have anybody that was willing to testify?

Joe Hough:
No, we never did because the few cases where we had somebody who really said this has happened, it really I don't think _________ a couple people that ________ happen _________.  I mean we tried to sit down with them _________, "We've got something here _________."  The best thing we did, and something that I still recommend to other groups from time to time when they're having some problems is as we started monitoring this after we got to a point of _________, because I was in the business and knew people who had been guilty of block-busting when ________ was legal, people that were of the general moral character that they were gonna take advantage of any situation they could, we found over a period of time certain names coming up, some even the same names that were convicted in the Cherokee case, because if _______ bothered to check what the penalty is for block-busting, there's about a $500.00 fine and a slap on the wrist to say not to do it in that neighborhood again for one year.

[0:29:20]


So, you go to another neighborhood and do it, which is exactly what they did.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Is that what happened?

Joe Hough:
Yeah.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Some of the same people from – 

Joe Hough:
Yeah.

Rae Ann Kremer:
– _________ case.

Joe Hough:
There were people who had been guilty of it ________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Were they both black and white real estate people?

Joe Hough:
Yes.  I'd say as a rule, the predominance of block-busters are white because they're working with white people, because when a black person solicits, that creates real fears, even though I know in my own personal situation, I had ________ sometimes in the past _______ somebody ________ ________.  I said, "Well, they know the buyers ________ houses _______ particular white man you mentioned probably doesn't know of black folks that would want to buy your house.  He's gonna stick a sign in your yard and hope somebody comes by ________, and that's still the kind of complaint we'll get today.

[0:30:07]


If we get a complaint on block-busting tactics being applied, it's usually a matter of some elderly white woman calling and saying, "Well, a black man sent me a letter that a black man _________," and that, to them, is __________ and it's just a matter that they're intimidated by a black person coming up and wanting to sell their house, not even thinking that a black person has the same legal right as a white person ________ ________ and might be okay, particularly a white person ________ ______ real estate _______, but that's where the fears come in ________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Could you tell us any of the names?

Joe Hough:
I don't see that it would do any good.  Second, I'll tell you a case – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Are they still in business?

Joe Hough:
– I would think in most cases.  One man is deceased I know of, but we had a case that is recorded in the Evergreen News, and I don't remember all the persons involved, and I don't remember to what extent they were named.

[0:31:06]

Rae Ann Kremer:
What was recorded in the Evergreen News?

Joe Hough:
There was a headline one time, block-busting, or Block Busters I think was the headline.  Well, we started eating crow real quick as soon as we saw it in black and white – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh really?

Joe Hough:
– because we had had an overzealous editor actually __________ situation _________ – 

[Break in audio]
Rae Ann Kremer:
– who was gonna sue and how it was handled – 

Joe Hough:
Well, yeah – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– _________.

Joe Hough:
– what happened is after this period of time, _________ a list of names, a list of ________, people that are really working the neighborhood and not _________ taking advantage of knowing somebody in a particular block who might want to sell their house or something, or going over in the block they maybe used to have lived in or knew somebody that lived in, and ran around asking, "Anybody want to sell?  I sure would like to take the listing if you want to sell."

[0:32:07]


But we ended up with a list of names.  There was one agent who was black, ________ to a white, but I'm thinking of a particular – because I believe all three were named in the article, but I'm not certain.  Anyway, the tone of the editor's comments at the end was he used the word and labeled them block busters.  __________ we didn't have a case against them.  ___________ and _________ in a position __________.  One agent in particular took it very ________ because he was working in the neighborhood I think had kinfolk residing in the neighborhood, and he saw the paper shortly after it came out.

[0:33:02]


_________ I guess __________ he was president _________ at that time, and said that he was gonna sue us.  Well, we had already separately met, the two editors and myself as soon as I saw it come out, and ________, "Man, this just ain't right."  ____________ about ready to move off to Chicago or somewhere, because at that particular time VECA was not incorporated _________ citizens group.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Who were the editors of the paper at that time?

Joe Hough:
At that particular time, John Freweiler and George ________.  John had written the article, he was the writer of the article had named names, so to speak.  We called him ________.  I think the headline was Block Busters _________, and they took these three or four people _______ _______.  Well, these people ________ came up _________ _________ people who were monitoring _________, and we said, "Well, ________ ________," _________, a real hostile fellow, somebody who I think was guilty of block-busting, because he had worked all the neighborhoods, and his career had been based on working on the neighborhoods that were _______ ________ ________.

[0:34:25]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Was he involved in Cherokee?

Joe Hough:
He was not one of them ___________, but he was, I know, ___________ __________ _________.  He wanted to have a meeting, get us to print an apology, __________ __________ finalize the charges through his lawyer who he was talking through.

[0:35:16]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Who was his lawyer?

Joe Hough:
I do not know.  We did not meet with a lawyer.  We assumed ____________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah.

Joe Hough:
So, we agreed that he was after Father Tom Kirk and myself, and this John Freweiler he didn't know.  He happened to know Father Tom Kirk, he happened to know me, because you know these were reputable people and I just ________ _________.  So, there was a meeting at Margaret's house, which we decided tactfully it would be best if none of us three named would attend.  Instead, there was a committee of Tim Johnson, George Brown, and one other neighbor, plus Margaret ________ meet in her house.

[0:36:06]


All three of these gentlemen happened to be attorneys by design for our meeting, and they had met ahead of time.  But this particular agent came in to meet with him, and huffing and puffing, ________ what he was gonna do to us, and he was introduced to them as Mr. Tim Johnson, Mr. George Brown, and ___________ and proceeded to talk to them without his attorney, because he didn't show with an attorney.  After five or ten minutes, it of course became evident then he was talking to us with a houseful of lawyers, and I know we didn't print a retraction, and nor did we ever hear from him again.  I think we just tried to use the power of persuasion the other side in this case, and it worked.  He never was a viable _______ in our neighborhood again.  I think he then moved his actions to southwest Memphis, where at that time ___________, and outdid some other people, which really I'd say our most successful tactic _________ recommend it to others was we monitored people, and once we got something on them, particularly the consistent thing, we had some form letters.

[0:37:15]


Somebody brought one to me the other day, thinking that maybe we should use it again, reactivate it.

Rae Ann Kremer:
What did it say?

Joe Hough:
It was a letter that in essence said, "Dear Mr. and Mrs. So-and-So, we're aware that you've been solicited in our neighborhood _________ recognize that you have legal rights to ________.  However, we are concerned that you have selected our neighborhood over other neighborhoods ____________ __________," and ended up with saying that we were watching the activity quite closely, and we would not hesitate to prosecute to the fullest extent of the law as soon as you stepped over that _______, and we would send this letter to the particular salesperson involved, if he wasn't the principal in the firm.

[0:38:02]


We would then send it to the principal in his firm, which would say, "Hey, we've got plenty of people out here misbehaving, and if he gets in trouble, you're gonna get in trouble," __________, and then we sent a copy of it, if they happened to belong to the real estate board, to the real estate president, or we sent a copy to the real estate commission office.  We sent a copy of it to the attorney general's office, and we acknowledged on the original letter that all these copies had been sent to these various places – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
I would say that's effective.

Joe Hough:
– and it was rather effective.  _________ what happened, and then southwest Memphis broke open within a year with the racial turnover down there, and these people left us for ___________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
You mentioned that you were thinking about reactivating the letter.  Why?  Have you noticed – 

Joe Hough:
Well – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– more activity again?

Joe Hough:
– no.  Again, we've got this complaint I mentioned a minute ago periodically now, and there has apparently been one or two black agents working certain areas, particularly in the northwest part of the neighborhood, which is the least stable, and it's always _________ _________ only use ________, but _______ black agent is there to intimidate them and make them sell.

[0:39:14]


We said, "Well, if we can get a consistency or find that there are two or three people that are doing this _________, plus another ________ would be if one or two agents made the mistake of putting ________ post office, in mailboxes, and send a complaint to the Post Master, and this of course gets ________ right away.  They don't ever do anything to anybody on the first time ________, because we've had heat on us __________ _________, but it just was another source of putting the heat on them.  This effectively worked because _________ there were other places for them to go and practice their tricks.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Do you feel that that's what has kept VECA not tipping, whereas Cherokee just went so quickly?

[0:40:03]

Joe Hough:
No, I really don't.

Rae Ann Kremer:
What do you think – 

Joe Hough:
I really think the – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– _________?

Joe Hough:
– VECA neighborhood has something to offer that a lot of other neighborhoods don't.  We try to work real hard for people in the southwest, and they just don't __________ __________ residential environment that we have.  The quality of the housing, the services available __________.  I think there's a difference ______ inner city housing _________ talking to somebody _________ ________, but I advocated all along that we did have – 

[Break in audio]

_______ amenity package is something that some of these other areas didn't have.  I happened to observe the Cherokee situation as an appraiser, ___________, and I well remember the emotional issue of, "My house is not for sale," signs on the curb.

[0:41:02]


Nearly every yard ________ blocks ________, and then some _________ __________ signs slowly disappearing _________, and I actually went down there and _______ _________ litigation, the situation where they literally were getting to block the street and disturb traffic to get people in and out of the houses _______.  I think the case down there in Cherokee was ________ in a packed area, and as we mentioned earlier, it was an area that was just ideal with the number of houses in there that blacks who were moving into upper-income areas could look in there and find it attractive.  But I really don't believe that neighborhood, or some southwest neighborhoods and that have the same general amenity package _______ ________ __________, plus I think we hadn't been mixed, and this is something that's still true _________ ________, because we had some people in there who really couldn't afford _______, they already lived tight, who created a certain amount of stability from that point of view.

[0:42:10]


They still maybe are a part of our instability problem, as far as they haven't accepted a racially integrated area.  I mentioned earlier on my own little street there's three or four women that every time a house goes up, you know, "What's gonna happen now?  If it sells to black, I'm selling mine."  But at that period of time, some of them was just in a position where they were not economically able to move.  They had a house that was debt-free, they're living on a fixed income, and it created a certain amount of stability for us.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, we know that there are a number of elderly people who live there, but if they got out, what do you think would happen?

Joe Hough:
Well, the trend in recent years has been they've been rapidly replaced with young people _________ _________.  Listing periods are less than normal.  Houses are selling for, to me, maximum values.

[0:43:03]


I shake my head literally every day, just as I do in Germantown, when I see a house around the corner ________ selling.  I've got to go look at a house in Hein Park tomorrow morning for my neighbor next door here.  It's his mother-in-law's house in her estate.  He said, "I don't have any predetermined idea of what it's worth, Joe."  I said, "________, it's hot in there."  I said, "It'll sell in 60 days or less, and you'll probably get top dollar," whatever that is ________ _______, and I said, "But I just blow my mind when I see a house around the corner that sells for $47,000.00," and I said, "Oh, and I thought that house would have been at the most in the high $30's or something."  But there's been – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Of course Hein Park – 

Joe Hough:
– __________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
– has recently had – 

Joe Hough:
No, I'm saying – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– ________.

Joe Hough:
– the neighborhood in general.  Yeah.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Hein Park is – 

Joe Hough:
Of course Hein Park has just went through a generation change, yeah.

Rae Ann Kremer:
– right, has just had its first black move, too.

Joe Hough:
Well, my understanding is he has not moved in ________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
I don't know he's moved in.  In fact, the neighbors – 

[0:44:01]

Joe Hough:
Well, I was quoted – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– _______ they're waiting.

Joe Hough:
– directly by somebody just the other day that he does not intend to live there.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh really?

Joe Hough:
I don't know how true that is.

Carol Low:
Who bought it?

Joe Hough:
A.W. Willis.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh, A.W. Willis bought the house?  Oh.

Joe Hough:
__________.  Somebody told me that he seems to know the story but that he doesn't ever intend to live ________.  He just bought it to ________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, there was a young couple, I think, who lives there.  Maybe someone's just – 

Joe Hough:
I don't know – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– renting it.

Joe Hough:
– but I understand he bought it _________ he bought it just because Hein Park, particularly the ________ situation ________ ________.  That was a new story to me, because up to that point I had heard like everybody else _________ __________ move into it, because I think it's a $95,000.00 house.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah, it is.

Joe Hough:
But somebody was just telling me yesterday, who seems to know something, that his intention in buying it was never to move in.  He just bought it to _________ the folks there, like Phillip Grim used to kid about, ________ going over to Central Gardens and buying a house, or going over in Central Gardens just to look at houses, just to see if he could create some ________.

[0:45:11]


__________ talk about something like this and _______ said, "Well, ______, that's right," because we had problems _______ in the inner city _________ called the Midtown Council, which includes I think it's up to maybe 12 organizations or so that have been coming over these last few years coming in.  The way it was formed, it really was the three major inner city groups trying to form a coalition on certain issues __________ related or involved in Memphis and Central Gardens, and some of our folks had hard times communicating with Central Gardens folks because it was obviously their intention _________ _______ at that time, and _________ _________, "Yeah, I think I'll just go over there and start knocking on doors and asking anybody if they want to sell me their house, just to see what will happen."  But that's kind of what I've understood _________ __________, even though for $95,000.00 that's quite an investment __________.

[0:46:07]

Rae Ann Kremer:
You're right.  Well, it looks then that you think that the VECA area is pretty strong at this point.

Joe Hough:
I think that there's been a dramatic turn.  I think the whole inner city movement _________ see the benefits of that, people coming back to their town.

Rae Ann Kremer:
When did you notice this change happening?

Joe Hough:
Well, I would have to say – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
When were you at your depth?

Joe Hough:
– it's been less than eight years.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Right.

Joe Hough:
I'll tell you, I bought a house eight years ago, which was at the depth of the market, and we put a finger on it eight and a half years ago because this was at the period of time when heretofore all of the children in the Vollintine-Evergreen neighborhood had been aligned to go to _______ High School, but then, in the summer of 1970, at the same time we were being informed that this created a lot of the housing sales.  In my particular block, it created three houses for sale.

[0:47:01]


People who had children that would be zoned out of Central – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh, to Northside.

Joe Hough:
– to Northside – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
And that was the summer of '70.

Joe Hough:
– which everybody viewed as a black school, and which is still viewed as a black school officially by VECA, and where we intervened in racial hearings on that basis, that we were kind of a reverse lawsuit _________ _________ intervene trying to argue the right of allowing our children to attend an integrated school, which they would not be doing at Northside.  The feeling was that it would create some stability if our children were allowed to go to Central, which was an integrated school.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, they've worked it out now – 

Joe Hough:
Yeah, ________ ________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
– and with Snowden, too, being – 

Joe Hough:
________ Snowden – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– optional.

Joe Hough:
– and then also of course the whole _______ in our neighborhood.  We've never had any busing because __________.  There were two things when we organized VECA that ________ ________: the real estate thing, we had to create some stability, and we realized quickly the people that were involved in some education, and I wasn't involved in the education aspect at that time.

[0:48:07]


Most of the persons who were involved in that at that time have gone because we're just as accepted as any other neighborhood for the mobility of society.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Who was involved in the education?

Joe Hough:
The primary leader was a fellow named Bruce Seales.  John Freweiler was very active in it also.  Of course he at that time had five young boys that were just starting school, and now starting to go out of school ________ __________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
From ________?

Joe Hough:
Yes, and _________ _________ __________, but there were a couple people that had children in the school system who felt that it would just continue to attract low-income whites who had to make sure that the school situation was tolerable to __________.

[0:49:01]


And of course we found this host of folks that wanted to be involved and had some interest _________, and quickly established a line of communication with the school board, through the schools and around schools.  We've always had, of course, direct contact _______ active member, George Brown, was on the school board, and then ________ represented the bulk of the neighborhood __________ ___________ you lived in our general part of the area ___________ she could have lived _________ and had no feelings for what was going on around __________ _________ school district itself _________ ____________ _________ ___________ ___________, and we felt that this was a key to stabilize the housing, keep the school situation where it would be acceptable to middle-income whites.

[0:50:06]


________ we were dealing with ________ everybody else.  It would maybe be a long haul, but it would end up being a black neighborhood, and we couldn't find some way to attract whites ________ __________.  The old people died off ________ __________.  Today, eight years later, it's ________.  I'll say eight years ago on my street, when that house was for sale, several of those houses came off the market after __________ white __________ moved in that has created some stability.  That's, frankly, the way stability can occur __________ two young white men would move into an area that's in these stable situations, then to the older people who just didn't know what was gonna happen, they see some conflicts.  On my particular street, I seen, again, 18 houses that sold.

[0:51:02]


Some of those have sold and re-sold, again, with the mobility of people, but today there's about eight couples with small children on the block; eight years ago, there was one couple.  ___________ _________.  That was of some concern to my wife at that time, you know?  We'd been living down the street, and we've walked up and down the street many times living at Cabanas – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Right.  Tell me about – 

Joe Hough:
– but there are no little children – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– the Cabanas.

Joe Hough:
– on this street.  I consider the Cabanas a real asset to our neighborhood.  They have been controversial.  The neighbors saw them before they were built, the immediate neighbors, which I would be one of today, but they are a source of housing _______ some young singles and young marrieds the first opportunity in housing and an introduction to our neighborhood.  It's still – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Are they – 

Joe Hough:
– predominantly – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
integrated?

Joe Hough:
– yes.  They're still predominantly, I think, ______ and they've always been to the student type of tenant.

[0:52:03]

Rae Ann Kremer:
From Southwestern?

Joe Hough:
Well, more so the __________ __________ school people, UT and such, because it's ________ close to them, it's very good rents, some of the most attractive rents in the city still.

Rae Ann Kremer:
What are the rents there?

Joe Hough:
I do not know _________ _________ they're still ridiculously low in comparison to some other things, merely because they were built ten years ago, and that property that was financed at six percent interest rate _______ financed when $79.00 rents would make it economically feasible _________ __________ _________ they're still attractive and competitive, and the owner has been able to have that extra money to maintain them.  They're real fortunate that the man that owns them has a philosophy of maintaining his properties.  He has reinvested _________ _________.

Carol Low:
Who owns those?

Joe Hough:
A fellow named John Smith.  John owns these, he owns the Cherokee Cabanas, which I think maybe he has sold recently, and then he owns the Kimball Cabanas.

[0:53:04]


He was in a partnership with another fellow named Dan Turner ________ _________ _________ they split some years ago, and one took some and one took the other, and if Turner had owned ______ today, they'd be in disrepair ________ we're very fortunate and blessed that Mr. Smith __________ his philosophy that he'd maintain ________ __________ to let them go down.

Rae Ann Kremer:
What about ________ _______ or same _______, or whatever you want to call them?  What happened with that?

Joe Hough:
That's probably a classic example of somebody trying to milk the situation.  Those properties were built in the late '40s, and at that time – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
By whom, do you know?

Joe Hough:
– I would know but I don't remember.  If you told me the name, I'd remember, but I don't _________.  ________ a fellow who had a reputation of building _________ buildings.

[0:54:03]


Like everybody else, he financed it over a 20-year period or something.  My mother just lives three houses from ________.  She's two houses north of Vollintine on Garland, which is a street that runs into them, so as I grew up, they were there.  In the '50s, they were of course a very high caliber place, probably competing in social standing with ________ Woods as far as where to live.  They were convenient with the bus line there.  People at that time were still using bus transportation to get around, the cross town being a main line.  They were in a nice, central mid-city location.  They create _________ of course ________ _________ didn't come through here then.  That's kind of a _______ ________.  ________ just went up another block ________wasn't afraid to cross _________ _________ ________ so it was kind of a little pocket there, and it was a nice place to live.

[0:55:01]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Do you feel ________ going – 

Joe Hough:
_________________ – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– _______ effect of that area.

Joe Hough:
– not particularly, just the general decline of midtown ________ ________.  There were new, modern apartments built elsewhere.  Tenants always tend to want to live in a modern apartment.  _________ _______ just a phenomena in the business.  Properties become antiquated maybe in their style and in their equipment, the layouts of units.  There probably was not adequate parking there as time went on because they were built during a period where the tenant didn't have two cars.  The socioeconomic mix began to decline, of course, because they started ________ the maximum rent, I'm sure.  For a period of time the person that could pay if it went to $150.00 looked elsewhere and find something more attractive being built new somewhere at that price range, so the landlord said, "Well, I've got _______ at $125.00 to meet the market in this neighborhood, so he started accepting a lesser-quality tenant.

[0:56:04]


Probably until the early '70s, they still stayed white.  Open housing probably didn't have much effect _________rental property __________ until the last few years, really, and this _______ ________ _________.  But I don't remember there being any major problems, and the racial mix over there ________ _______ organizing ________ that neighborhood _______ was still really pretty stable, all the duplexes to the north of it ________ were white, but there was a change in the type of tenant ________ __________ __________.  So, the property was paid for.  I think then it sold.  I'm trying to remember the history and checking it back to Tom Hern.

[0:57:01]


But somebody then began obviously just trying to milk the property because they saw they were getting a lesser quality of tenant, and the neighborhood started getting black, and then it had that shift, and then they saw __________ they weren't going to spend their money on it.  They were just gonna take all they could get out of it ________ _________ to pay for, and then there was a series of transactions that you'd have to go back and study, which I have done, related to this pending lawsuit.  It basically then ended up in the hands of Supreme Mortgage Company and Universal Life Insurance Company, which are both wholly owned black corporations, and – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
How did it end up – 

Joe Hough:
– one _______ – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– in their hands?  Did they – 

Joe Hough:
– well, they ended up – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– _______ forfeit?

Joe Hough:
– buying it.  They bought them in one way.  They bought one _________, and then they bought the other one and then sold it to the church.  The two properties are legal separate entities at this time, the one on the west side and the east side were a separate entity.  They were just divided down and they sold _______ that way.

[0:58:03]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Which church?

Joe Hough:
Well, there's a church in it that's – I do not recall the name of it.  It's a black church where _________ comes from.  The name was ________ – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, were people living – 

Joe Hough:
– but it's a small – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– in them?

Joe Hough:
– oh yes, there were people living in them.  Then, I'd say at that time, it probably became the minimal type of tenant, the type of tenant who was beginning to vandalize the property ________.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Was it still white?

Joe Hough:
No, _______ black by the time the church got in.  What we feel is is that then these particular buyers, who were with Mr. A.W. Willis' principal in both of his firms – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
What year was that about?

Joe Hough:
– about 1976 I think.

Rae Ann Kremer:
________ oh my goodness, that wasn't very long ago, and before '76, it was still basically white?

Joe Hough:
No, I'm saying back in the early '70s, when VECA was formed – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh, it was – 

Joe Hough:
– there was no problem with stability there at that time, and it was definitely a lowering of the – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– right.

Joe Hough:
– economic levels of persons in there, but it wasn't a matter that it was – 

[0:59:05]

Rae Ann Kremer:
I wonder when it started – 

Joe Hough:
– ________ – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– to go … 

Joe Hough:
– in the middle '70s.  It wasn't gradual.  There was a change.  You could see it.  Once you got the "white trash" in, then followed the blacks ________ black trash, because then the middle-income blacks wouldn't live there, either, you know?  And then what happened ________ period of time he ended up with basically a black property, and at that time the owners of the property then start looking for somebody to take it off their hands.  I assume ________ stories this would be through my assumptions that somebody ________ Mr. Willis' organizations about the possibilities of taking them, buying them at the right price, rehabilitate them under some kind of government program, and then having an attractive investment there, because that's basically ________.  Universal Life Insurance and Supreme Mortgage took title for these properties through _________, one being an individual and one being a church, which obviously I say they took title for these people because neither one apparently had any money and they didn't have no liabilities in it, and went to these sponsors, probably.

[1:00:12]


And then these fundings that have not been done _______ since.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh, they were waiting for – 

Joe Hough:
It seems to be a classic example.  We figure right at this point they have some $500,000.00 to $600,000.00 tied up at the maximum, and maybe less if some of the transactions didn't really have the monies that are on the papers __________ probably ________.  I understand the taxes haven't been paid on them in several years, so they haven't had to pay taxes on them, but the city has not chose to take the taxes out on them.  Of course, obviously, they got to a point of disrepair, and there was a period of time ______ the lowest of black indigent ________ not paying rent and tearing them up themselves.  The church announced, and we, in one of our papers, ________ ________ to encourage the church ______ ownership of the property and sponsor a rehabilitation of it.

[1:01:03]


There was an article in the Evergreen News at that period of time, where somebody interviewed the minister about what their plans were, if they've got the money to rehabilitate the property, and there was actually some work started, some painting done, and I think one issue of the paper somebody went out there and took a picture showing some work in progress, and then that work stopped.  Obviously, they did not have the monies themselves to do what they wanted to do.  HUD never advanced the funds for probably a number of reasons.  One, again, we're assuming at this point it became apparent to HUD they had no money in the property, they weren't gonna put any money into it until they had some sound business relationship with the person who was gonna rehabilitate it.  It appears that the church that was to be the sponsoring organization was not financially sound and ________ to handle this type of situation, and they had a reluctance to commit themselves when, "The numbers didn't look right."

[1:02:08]


_______ they were asking for $20,000.00, and it would take $300.00 a month rents to pay it back, and they couldn't see anybody paying $300.00 a month rents, so they said, "Well, we can't rent _______ $20,000.00 per unit," or whatever it is.  So, I think the last I heard is a multiple million-dollar application into HUD at this point, which has never been acted on, and – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, they've gone down – 

Joe Hough:
– the taxpayers ________ – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
– down, down.

Joe Hough:
– ________.  Well, there's nothing left there.  We made a physical inspection last winter, Tom Turner and myself, and no unit has any type of plumbing fixture in it, in the sink or in the baths.

Rae Ann Kremer:
They're all gone.

Joe Hough:
No piping in the house.  All the copper piping has been taken out.  All of the light fixtures are out, all the electrical is out, the wiring as well as the switches, the plates that cover the switches, and the plugs, as well as the light switches.  Anything that can be taken out and used somewhere else, or melted down and throw it in a pot is gone.

[1:03:12]


Of course, most of the windows has been broken out, I guess ________ kids throwing rocks at them.  But you can literally walk through any unit out there.  Since we've been involved in trying to get the city to enforce the building code and that out there, they have put up the fence – 

[End of Audio]
www.verbalink.com

Page 34 of 34

